THE WEST VIRGINIA PUBLIC EMPLOYEES GRIEVANCE BOARD

LARRY JAMES HARRIS,



Grievant,

v.






Docket No. 2016-1092-MAPS
DIVISION OF CORRECTIONS/
ANTHONY CORRECTIONAL CENTER,


Respondent.

DECISION

Grievant, Larry James Harris, was employed by Respondent Division of Corrections/Anthony Correctional Center (“DOC”)/(“ACC”) as a uniformed Correctional Officer at all times relevant to this grievance. Mr. Harris filed a grievance against Respondent on January 7, 2016, which was received by the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board on January 8, 2016, at Docket No. 2016-1092-MAPS, stating, 

“Letter attached for the statement of grievance. Attached: Fact Sheet #17J First Responders and the Part 541 Exemptions Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”). Attached: Commissioners [sic] statement on hours shcedules [sic] in overtime.”
The relief sought was:
“to have commissioners [sic] instructions removed, employees that have been effected by this be reimburse [sic] there [sic] money.”
This grievance proceeded to Level One hearing on February 3, 2016. However, a Level One decision was not mailed until April 26, 2016. Therefore, Grievant moved for default judgment. Shortly before the first hearing before the Grievance Board, Respondent conceded it had defaulted. Therefore, as the issue of default was resolved, with the mutual agreement of the parties, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(b), a hearing was held on July 18, 2016, at the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board in Charleston, West Virginia, before the undersigned to determine whether the remedies sought by Grievant are proper and available by law. Grievant appeared at the hearing and was represented by Mr. Jack Ferrell. John Boothroyd, Assistant Attorney General, represented Respondent. At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties agreed to submit post-hearing arguments, the last of which was received on August 19, 2016, upon which date this matter became mature for decision.
Synopsis

Grievant timely filed a Motion for Default judgment in this grievance, because Respondent failed to timely issue a decision after the Level One hearing. Respondent did not attempt to prove that it was prevented from rendering a decision by one of the reasons allowed for delay established in W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3, but admitted default. Following Respondent's admission of default, pursuant to W.Va. Code § 6C-2-3(b), a hearing was held for the sole purpose of determining whether the remedy sought by Grievant was proper and available under the law. As relief, Grievant has requested the Grievance Board to order the DOC Commissioner (“Commissioner”) to “remove” the requirement in the Instructions that establishes a fourteen consecutive day work period, with an eighty hour work pre-overtime limit for DOC’s uniformed employees and compensate any DOC employee who has lost overtime pay due to implementation of this Instruction. Grievant alleges the Commissioner’s Instructions on “Hours, Schedules, and Overtime” (“Commissioner’s Instructions” or “Instructions”) violate the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”), because they treat uniformed employees of the DOC as exempt from the minimum hour and wage requirements at 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) (“207(a)(1)” or “§ 207(k)”). Respondent correctly asserts that the exception at 29 U.S.C. § 207(k) plainly specifies that correctional officers are exempt from the requirements of 207(a)(1) and that 29 C.F.R. §553.230(b) permits it to require its law enforcement personnel to work a minimum of eighty-six hours in a fourteen day period before they are eligible for overtime pay. As such, Respondent has met its burden of proof to show that the requested relief is contrary to law and unavailable from the Grievance Board. Though Respondent admittedly defaulted, given that Grievant's requested remedies are improper, both the default judgment and the requested remedy are denied, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(b)(3).

The following findings of facts are made based upon the entire record developed in this grievance. 
Findings of Fact

1.
Grievant, Larry James Harris, was employed by Respondent DOC/ACC as a uniformed Correctional Officer at all times relevant to this grievance.

2.
On November 20, 2015, DOC Commissioner, Mr. Jim Rubenstein, issued a Commissioner’s Instruction on “Hours, Schedules, and Overtime” to all DOC staff. The Commissioner's Instructions provide its definition of “overtime” as:

6.
Overtime - The time a Division employee is performing business on the Division's behalf, which:

a. Exceeds 80 (eighty) hours in the Division's 14 (fourteen) day work period for uniformed employee assigned to a correctional facility. All hours worked in excess of 80 (eighty) hours will be compensable at one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate.

b. Exceeds 40 (forty) hours in the Division's established workweek for non-uniformed employees in the Division's work units that are not correctional facilities. All hours worked in one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate. Commissioner's Instructions may actually have become effective approximately a week afterward.
3. The Instructions further specified that the new "work period” would become, “two (2) work weeks which runs [sic] for fourteen (14) consecutive days beginning at 0001 hours on Saturday and ending at 0001 hours on Friday,” effective beginning January 2, 2016.
  See Respondent's Exhibit 2, Instructions dated November 20, 2015.
4. Grievant received the Commissioner's Instructions on or about November 30, 2015. Grievant did not believe he received a previous version of the Instructions on overtime, which was dated November 20, 2015. However, Grievant agreed the instructions dated November 30, 2015, contained the same or substantially similar language to the instructions issued on November 20, 2015. See Respondent's Exhibit 2.
5. Grievant’s schedule requires him to work fourteen hours per day, from 5:00 AM to 7:00 PM, in the kitchen of ACC. He works two days on, followed by three days off, with every other Saturday off. Level three Testimony of Grievant.

6.
Grievant asserts that the Commissioner’s Instructions concerning overtime for uniformed DOC employees violate the FLSA at 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) because DOC is not compensating uniformed employees for overtime when they work over forty  hours during a seven consecutive day work period.
7.
Grievant did not point to any written contractual obligation or bargain into which DOC entered, with either him individually or collectively with all of its “uniformed” employees, that would prohibit DOC from establishing a policy that requires Grievant to work a minimum of eighty hours during a fourteen consecutive day work period before compensating him with overtime pay.
8.
Mr. Harris filed a grievance against Respondent on January 7, 2016, which was received by the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board on January 8, 2016, at Docket No. 2016-1092-MAPS.

9.
On February 3, 2016, a Level One hearing was held.

10.
Grievant filed a Motion For Default Judgment on or about April 18, 2016, because the chief administrator’s written decision was not issued within 15 days of the conference, which is a violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(2).
11.
The chief administrator’s written decision was issued on April 26, 2016.

12.
Respondent admitted default because the chief administrator’s written decision was not timely issued and did not attempt to prove that it was prevented from rendering a timely decision by one of the reasons allowed for delay established in W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3.
Discussion

Default grievances are generally bifurcated. In the first hearing, it is determined whether a default actually occurred. However, in this matter, prior to the first scheduled hearing, Respondent admitted default because the chief administrator’s written decision was not issued within 15 days of the conference, which is a violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(2).
 Respondent did not attempt to prove that it was prevented from rendering a decision by one of the reasons allowed for delay established in W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3. 
If a default is proven, a second hearing is held to determine if any of the remedies requested by the grievant are “contrary to law or contrary to proper and available remedies.” W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(b)(2). At hearing on the requested relief, as an affirmative defense, the employer has the opportunity of showing that the remedy requested by the grievant is contrary to law or contrary to proper and available remedies. These issues are sometimes matters of law that may not require the presentation of evidence, but to the extent that proof is required, the respondent has the burden of proving this affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence.  Public Employees Grievance Board, 156 C.S.R. 1 § 3 (2008). Dunlap v. W. Va. Dep’t of Envtl. Prot, Docket No. 2008-0808-DEP (Mar. 20, 2009). “The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not.” Leichliter v. Health and Human Res., Docket No 92-HHR-486 (May 17, 1993).  A preponderance “is generally recognized as evidence of greater weight, or which is more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it.” Petry v. Kanawha County Bd. Of Educ., Docket No. 96-20-380 (Mar. 18, 1997).

Under these circumstances, by agreement of the parties, only one hearing was held, in order to address whether the remedies requested by Grievant were proper and available. Grievant seeks two remedies: 1) removal of the Commissioner’s Instructions as it pertains to establishing a fourteen day work period, with an eighty hour pre-overtime limit for DOC uniformed personnel; and 2) monetary reimbursement for overtime that Grievant or any other DOC employee would have earned if the Instructions had never been instated.
 No other correctional officers joined in this grievance with Grievant. As such, any relief that may be properly awarded may only be granted to him.

Grievant argues that the Instructions violate 207(a)(1) in that they instate a fourteen day work period, with an eighty hour pre-overtime limit for uniformed DOC employees. The generally applicable FLSA hourly wage and overtime requirements are set forth at 29 U.S.C.  § 207(a)(1), which provides as follows: 
§ 207. Maximum hours 

a) Employees engaged in interstate commerce; additional applicability to employees pursuant to subsequent amendatory provisions

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, no employer shall employ any of his employees who in any workweek is engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or is employed in an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, for a workweek longer than forty hours unless such employee receives compensation for his employment in excess of the hours above specified at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which he is employed. (Emphasis added.)
The provisions of 207(a)(1) generally mandate a pre-overtime forty-hour, seven-day work week at the regular rate of the employee’s pay, unless the employee is subject to an exception provided at § 207. Grievant avers that he is not exempt from this general mandate. 
In support of his assertion, Grievant relies upon the U.S. Department of Labor, Wage and Hour Division’s “Fact Sheet #17J: First Responders and the Part 541 Exemptions Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA),” revised July 2008, issued “for general information.” It states, in pertinent part, that:

 ... [S]ection 13(a)(1) of the FLSA provides an exception from both minimum wage and overtime pay for employees employed as bona fide executive, administrative, professional and outside sales employees. §13(a)(1) and §13(a)(17) also exempts [sic] certain computer employees. To qualify for exemption, employees must meet certain tests regarding their job duties and be paid on a salary basis at not less than $455 per week.

Police Officers, Fire Fighters and Other First Responders - Police officers, detectives, deputies, sheriffs, correctional officers, parole or probation officers, park rangers, firefighters ...  and similar employees ("first responders") ... are not exempt under §13 (a)(1)  ... and thus are protected by the minimum wage and overtime provisions of the FLSA.
First responders generally do not qualify as exempt executives because their primary duty is not management. They are not exempt administrative employees because their primary duty is not performance of office or non-manual work directly related to the management of general business operations of the employer or ... customers ...

See Grievant’s Exhibit 2 - Level One.

As Respondent correctly contends, this Fact Sheet is inapplicable as it simply describes some types of employees who are exempt from § 207(a)(1), pursuant to §213(a)(1) and §13(a)(17) and explains why “First Responders” do not qualify as exempt executives or exempt administrative employees thereunder.
Respondent further asserts that the Instructions do not violate § 207(a)(1) because the DOC and its uniformed employees fall under one of its exceptions; at 29 U.S.C.A § 207(k), which Grievant overlooked. This section states,
(k) Employment by public agency engaged in fire protection or law enforcement activities
No public agency shall be deemed to have violated sub§(a) with respect to the employment of any employee in fire protection activities or any employee in law enforcement activities (including security personnel in correctional institutions) if—

(1) in a work period of twenty-eight consecutive days the employee receives four tours of duty which in the aggregate exceed the lesser of (A) 216 hours, or (B) the average number of hours (as determined by the Secretary pursuant to §6(c)(3) of the Fair Labor Standards Amendments of 1974) in tours of duty of employees engaged in such activities in work periods of twenty-eight  consecutive days in calendar year 1975; or

(2) in the case of such an employee to whom a work period of at least 7 but less than twenty-eight  days applies, in his work period the employee receives four tours of duty which in the aggregate exceed a number of hours which bears the same ratio to the number of consecutive days in his work period as 216 hours (or if lower, the number of hours referred to in clause (B) of paragraph (1) bears to twenty-eight days, compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which he is employed.

The 207(k) exception specifically allows public agencies, such as the DOC, who employ those in law enforcement activities, including “security personnel in correctional institutions,” to establish a work period that is anywhere between seven and twenty-eight days, if the employer complies with the hourly requirements it sets forth.

The exception at 207(k) and directive at 29 C.F.R. §553.230(b) allow the employer to require firefighters to work a minimum of eighty-six hours before they are eligible for overtime pay. See Boggess v. City of Charleston, 234 W.Va. 366, 378-380, 765 S.E.2d 255, 267-269 (2014). Though Boggess, supra., discussed the foregoing statutory and regulatory provisions as they relate to a fourteen day work period and a pre-overtime eighty-six  hour limit for City of Charleston firefighters, those provisions are also applicable to “security personnel in correctional institutions.” Also see Bailey v. Loudoun County Sheriff’s Office, 762 S.E.2d 763, 772 (Va. 2014), wherein that Court concluded, inter alia, that the Sheriff's office did not violate the FLSA and state law in requiring some of its law enforcement personnel to work a minimum of eighty-six hours over a fourteen-day work period in order to qualify for overtime.
 
Respondent further relies upon the U.S. Department of Labor, Wage and Hour Division’s “Fact Sheet #8: Law Enforcement and Fire Protection Employees Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA),” revised March 2011, which explains, in pertinent part,
Law enforcement personnel are employees who are empowered by State or local ordinance to enforce laws designed to maintain peace and order, protect life and property, and to prevent and detect crime; who have the power to rest; and who have undergone training in law enforcement.

Employees engaged in law enforcement activities may perform some nonexempt work [sic] which is not performed as an incident to or in conjunction with their law enforcement activities. However, a person who spends more than 20% of the workweek or applicable work period in nonexempt activities is not considered to be an employee engaged in law enforcement activities under the FLSA.

Grievant works in law enforcement as a trained, uniformed correctional officer, assigned to work in the kitchen of ACC. Grievant did not assert that he spends more than 20% of the work period in nonexempt activities or introduce any evidence to prove that he might fall under this exception. Therefore, he falls within the 207(k) exception. Clearly, 207(k) and 29 C.F.R. 553.230(b) and 29 C.F.R. 553.230(c) expressly permit Respondent to establish a fourteen day, eighty hour pre-overtime limit for Grievant, which is justified by his actual job requirements as a correctional officer. In conclusion, Respondent proved that the Commissioner's Instructions were not in violation of applicable law. 
Finally, Respondent correctly asserts that the Grievance Board does not have the jurisdiction to provide a remedy that would require it to misinterpret the FLSA. The rationale for the FLSA exemption at 207(k), was discussed in Boggess, Id. “[T]he OT requirements of §7(a) of the FLSA ordinarily require that premium overtime wages be paid after forty hours in a workweek. §7(k), however, sets forth a partial overtime exemption for fire protection and law enforcement agencies, as used by the City in the present case. See 29 U.S.C. § 207(k). Recognizing the unique type of work performed by police officers and firefighters, Congress provided this partial exemption to the FLSA's overtime requirements for public agency employers. Id. ‘§ 207k gives employers of fire protection and law enforcement personnel greater leeway in structuring wage and time calculations.’ Lamon v. City of Shawnee, 972 F.2d 1145, 1153 (10th Cir. 1992).” Id., at 268. In order to grant the requested remedies in this matter, the undersigned would have to intentionally misinterpret the pertinent directives of the FLSA and the Code of Federal Regulations, and ignore the clear precedent set by Boggess. Id.  Formulating public policy and standards for its implementation is the legislature's responsibility, not the judiciary's. Though Respondent admittedly defaulted, given that Grievant's requested remedies are improper, both the default judgment and the requested remedy are denied W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(b)(3).
Conclusions of Law
1.
The time period for issuing a written decision following a Level One conference with the chief administrator is governed by W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(2), which requires, inter alia, that, “The chief administrator shall issue a written decision within fifteen days of the conference.”

2.
Respondent defaulted in this grievance, because the Level One decision was not timely issued, in violation of W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(2).
3.
When the grievant's requested remedies are proven to be contrary to law or contrary to proper and available remedies, both the default judgment and the requested remedies are properly denied, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-3(b)(3).
4.
At hearing on the requested relief, the respondent has the opportunity of showing that the remedy requested by the grievant is contrary to law or contrary to proper and available remedies. These issues are sometimes matters of law that may not require the presentation of evidence, but to the extent that proof is required, the respondent has the burden of proving this affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence.  Public Employees Grievance Board, 156 C.S.R. 1 § 3 (2008). Dunlap v. W. Va. Dep’t of Envtl. Prot, Docket No. 2008-0808-DEP (Mar. 20, 2009).
5.
“The preponderance standard generally requires proof that a reasonable person would accept as sufficient that a contested fact is more likely true than not.” Leichliter v. Health and Human Res., Docket No 92-HHR-486 (May 17, 1993).  A preponderance, “is generally recognized as evidence of greater weight, or which is more convincing than the evidence which is offered in opposition to it.” Petry v. Kanawha County Bd. Of Educ., Docket No. 96-20-380 (Mar. 18, 1997).

6.
The DOC Commissioner, on or about November 30, 2015, issued the Commissioner’s Instruction on “Hours, Schedules, and Overtime” to all DOC staff. The Commissioner's Instructions provide the definition of “overtime” as:

6.
Overtime - The time a Division employee is performing business on the Division's behalf, which:

c. Exceeds 80 (eighty) hours in the Division's 14 (fourteen) day work period for uniformed employee assigned to a correctional facility. All hours worked in excess of 80 (eighty) hours will be compensable at one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate.

d. Exceeds 40 (forty) hours in the Division's established workweek for non-uniformed employees in the Division's work units that are not correctional facilities. All hours worked in one and one-half (1.5) times the employee's regular hourly rate. Commissioner's Instructions may actually have become effective approximately a week afterward.

7.
The generally applicable FLSA hourly wage and overtime requirements are set forth at 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1), and mandate a pre-overtime forty hour, seven day work week at the regular rate of the employee’s pay, unless the employee is subject to an exception provided at § 207.
8. 
Public agency employers may designate a two week work period for their security personnel in correctional facilities and require them to work a maximum of eighty-six hours over a fourteen consecutive day work period, before compensating them at their overtime rate of pay under 29 U.S.C.A § 207(k), which provides an exception to the general minimum hour and wage requirements set forth at 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) and pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 553.230(b) and 29 C.F.R. § 553.230(c), which prescribe the hours to days ratios for the selected period, provided that those employees do not fall into any other statutory or regulatory exceptions to 29 U.S.C.A § 207(k). See Boggess v. City of Charleston, 234 W.Va. 366, 378-380, 765 S.E.2d 255, 267-269 (2014).
9.
The Commissioner’s Instructions requiring uniformed personnel to work a maximum of eighty hours over a fourteen consecutive day work period, before compensating them at their overtime rate of pay, is permissible, as applied to Grievant. 

Accordingly, the default is DENIED.
Grievant’s requested relief to remove the Commissioner’s Instructions of November of 2015, which established a fourteen-day work period, with an eighty-hour pre-overtime limit for DOC uniformed personnel and for monetary reimbursement for overtime that Grievant or any other DOC employee would have earned if the Instructions had never been instated is DENIED as contrary to law and contrary to proper and available remedies.
Any party may appeal this Decision to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County.  Any such appeal must be filed within thirty (30) days of receipt of this Decision.  See W. Va. Code § 6C-2-5.  Neither the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board nor any of its Administrative Law Judges is a party to such appeal and should not be so named. However, the appealing party is required by W. Va. Code 29A-5-4(b) to serve a copy of the appeal petition upon the Grievance Board.  The Civil Action number should be included so that the certified record can be properly filed with the circuit court.  See also W. Va. Code St. R. § 156-1-6.20 (2008).

DATE: October 17, 2016

_____________________________








Susan L. Basile








Administrative Law Judge

� Grievant was the only witness who testified at the “remedy” hearing. 


� The evidence at hearing indicates that the Commissioner's Instructions may actually have become effective approximately a week afterward.


� The time period for issuing a written decision following a Level One conference with the chief administrator is governed by W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(2), which requires, inter alia, that, “The chief administrator shall issue a written decision within fifteen days of the conference.” (Emphasis added.)


� Grievant’s request was not very specific. During the course of the hearing, however, Grievant provided additional detail to the brief “Request for Relief” he made in his grievance statement and this is the relief he effectively requested.


� “Congress established the following hours-to-days ratio for this partial exemption: 216 hours for a 28 day work period. 29 U.S.C. § 207(k). However, Congress empowered the Secretary of Labor to promulgate a lower hours-to-days ratio. Id.; see also 29 C.F.R. § 553.201(a) (noting that the FLSA “mandated” a study on this point). And, in fact, the Secretary did promulgate a lower ratio for law-enforcement public agencies: 171 hours for a 28 day work period. 29 C.F.R. § 553.230(b). Recognizing that this ratio applies to every work period between 7 and 28 days, the Secretary provided a chart specifying how this ratio applies by listing the number of pre-overtime hours that may be worked in each work period before a one and one-half overtime rate must be paid. See 29 C.F.R. § 553.230(c). As relevant to this appeal, a fourteen day work period has an eighty-six hour pre-overtime hour limit for law-enforcement employees. 29 C.F.R. § 553.230(c).” Bailey, Id., at 772.
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